STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

RECEIVED

06-29-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

VILLAGE OF THIENSVILLE,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 2015AP576-FT

CONOR B. FISK,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER OF THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY, PRESIDING

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

LAW OFFICES OF CHRISTOPHER J. CHERELLA 735 W. Wisconsin Avenue, 12th Floor Milwaukee, WI 53233 (414) 347-9334

Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant By: Christopher J. Cherella State Bar No.: 1000427

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the trial court err as a matter of law in ruling that it had no jurisdiction to hear the appeal filed from the municipal court judgment of conviction?

ANSWERED BY THE TRIAL COURT: No. The Court ruled it had no jurisdiction to hear the appeal as a result of a lack of jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

A court trial was held in the Village of Thiensville Municipal Court on November 5, 2014 on citations alleging 1st Offense Operating While Intoxicated (OWI) and 1st Offense Operating with a Prohibited Breath Alcohol Concentration (BAC). After trial, the Court entered an Order on the same date dismissing the OWI citation (R. 9) and finding guilt on the BAC citation (R. 10). On November 25, 2014, the defendant-appellant, Conor B. Fisk ("Fisk") filed a timely Notice of Appeal (R. 11) with the municipal court clerk on the BAC citation. At 9:02 p.m. on November 25, 2014, Fisk's counsel e-mailed the Village's attorney file stamped copies of the appeal documents. (R. 14, Exh. A)

On December 3, 2014, the municipal court file was transmitted and filed with the Circuit Court of Ozaukee County. On December 23, 2014, the Village filed a Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Appeal and Brief in Support of its Motion (R. 13) with an accompanying Affidavit of Counsel (R. 14) alleging that the appeal was defective for failure to provide proper written notice of appeal to the Village. Fisk filed a Response Brief on January 2, 2015. (R. 15) The Village filed its Reply Brief on

January 5, 2015. (R. 16)

The trial court held a hearing on January 7, 2015 wherein both sides presented oral argument on the jurisdictional issue. (R. 37) The trial court issued an oral decision granting the Village's motion and dismissing the appeal for lack of jurisdiction on January 26, 2015. (R. 38) The Court issued a final written order on February 13, 2015. (R. 19) Notice of Entry of Final Order was filed on February 23, 2015.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on March 17, 2015. The matter is now before this Court for briefing.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT HAD PROPER JURISDICTION TO HEAR THE APPEAL FROM THE MUNICIPAL COURT CONVICTION

A. Standard of Review

Whether Fisk complied with Wis. Stat. § 800.14 when seeking to appeal presents a question of law which the appellate court reviews *de novo*. See *Wellin v*. *American Family Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2006 WI 81, ¶ 16, 292 Wis. 2d 73, 717 N.W.2d 690 (the interpretation and application of statutes and case law to facts of a particular case present questions of law which appellate courts decide *de novo*.) Accordingly, this Court conducts a *de novo* review of the trial court's decision on an issue of this nature.

B. Argument

1. Fisk Complied With the Requirements of § 800.14(1), Wis. Stats.

The Village claimed, and the trial court found, that Fisk did not comply with § 800.14 (1), Wis. Stats., because he did not give proper written notice of appeal when appealing from the municipal court to the circuit court. In claiming that improper notice was provided, the Village invoked the service statute provided in the rules of civil procedure in § 801.14(2), Wis. Stats. This statute is simply not applicable to an appeal from the municipal court to the circuit court. When a specific method of review is prescribed by statute, that method is exclusive. *Sewerage Comm'n of Milwaukee v. DNR*, 102 Wis. 2d 613, 630, 307 N.W2d 189 (1981).

The Village's claim that Fisk did not provide proper written notice to its attorney is founded upon a literal misinterpretation of the applicable municipal court statute. § 800.14(1), Wis. Stats., states as follows:

Appeals from judgments, decisions on motions brought under s. 800.115, or determinations regarding whether the defendant is unable to pay the judgment because of poverty, as that term is used in s. 814.29 (1) (d), may be taken by either party to the circuit court of the county where the offense occurred. The appellant shall appeal by giving the municipal judge and other party *written notice of appeal* within 20 days after the judgment or decision. No appeals may be taken from default judgments. (Emphasis Added)

The above statute is contained within Section 800 of the Wisconsin Statutes ("Statutes"). This is a special section of the code that was created by the legislature and pertains specifically to municipal court procedure in our state. The section does

not invoke, nor make reference to, Section 801 of the Statutes. As can be seen, that statute delineates that an appellant need only provide the other party with "written notice" of the appeal within 20 days after the judgment or decision. The statute makes no reference to the terminology "service of pleadings and other papers" upon opposing counsel as set forth in § 801.14(2), Wis. Stats. Here, it is undisputed that Fisk provided written notice to the Village attorney via e-mail transmission within 20 days after the judgment in municipal court.

The Village's main claim at the trial court level was that Fisk failed to comply with the service statute contained in § 801.14(2), Wis. Stats. The Village claimed that "[S]tate law provides that when service of papers or other pleadings is required to be made upon a party represented by an attorney, such service shall be made upon the attorney, either by 'delivering' a copy of the paper to the attorney, or mailing a copy to the attorney's last-known address, Wis. Stat. § 801.14(2)." (R. 13, pp. 2-3.) That may well be the case with service related to actions governed by Chapter 801. However, that chapter of the Statutes is inapplicable to proceedings related to the issue before this court. §§ 801.01(1) and (2), Wis. Stats., pertain specifically to the scope of procedures set forth in that chapter of the Statutes. Those two statutory sections state:

(1) Kinds. Proceedings in the courts are divided into actions and special proceedings. "Action", as used in chs. 801 to 847, includes "special

proceeding" unless a specific provision of procedure in special proceedings exists.

(2) Scope. Chapters 801 to 847 govern procedure and practice in circuit courts of this state in all civil actions and special proceedings whether cognizable as cases at law, in equity or of statutory origin where different procedure is prescribed by statute or rule. Chapters 801 to 847 shall be construed to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action and proceeding.

Given the above statutory sections, it is clear that the scope of the codified laws contained in section 801 apply to govern procedures within that section except where a different procedure is prescribed by statute or rule. It is clear that § 800.14(1), Wis. Stats., provides a different procedure than that set forth in § 801.14(2), Wis. Stats, for providing notification to opposing counsel. The more specific statute provides only that "written notice" be given to opposing counsel.

In this scenario, the Village acknowledges in its pleadings and Affidavit of Counsel that it received the written e-mail transmission on November 25, 2014. For the Village to suggest in this day and age that such notification was not in writing makes a mockery of the statute. Accordingly, it is undisputed that such written notice under the applicable statute was given to opposing counsel within a timely manner and in compliance with the law as set forth in Chapter 800.

2. Fisk Complied with the Requirements of § 801.14(2), Wis. Stats.

Even if this Court finds that Fisk should have complied with the service provisions set forth in Chapter 801, he is still in compliance with the legislative intent of the applicable statute at issue. § 801.14(2), Wis. Stats., sets forth as follows:

Whenever under these statutes, service of pleadings and other papers is required or permitted to be made upon a party represented by an attorney, the service shall be made upon the attorney unless service upon the party in person is ordered by the court. Service upon the attorney or upon a party shall be made by delivering a copy or by mailing it to the last-known address, or, if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court. Delivery of a copy within this section means: handing it to the attorney or to the party; transmitting a copy of the paper by facsimile machine to his or her office; or leaving it at his or her office with a clerk or other person in charge thereof; or, if there is no one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving it at his or her dwelling house or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein. Service by mail is complete upon mailing. Service by facsimile is complete upon transmission. The first sentence of this subsection shall not apply to service of a summons or of any process of court or of any paper to bring a party into contempt of court.

The clear intent of this statute pertains to notification to opposing counsel. The legislature set forth that it wants a party to a lawsuit to provide notification of any filings to opposing counsel so that the documents are actually received by that attorney. Further, this Court should be aware of the fact that the legislative history of this specific statutory subsection dictates that it has not been amended in any fashion since 1991. In 1991, there is a notation in the statute as follows:

"Judicial Council Note, 1991: Sub. (2) is amended to clarify that facsimile transmission can be used to serve pleadings and other papers. Such service is deemed complete upon transmission. The change is not intended to expand the permissible means of serving a summons or writ conferring court jurisdiction under s. 799.12 and

ch. 801, stats. [Re Order eff. 7-1-91]."

The rules of statutory construction are applicable in this case. Our Supreme Court has held that "[T]he word "shall" is ordinarily presumed to be mandatory when it appears in a statute, but may be construed as directory if necessary to carry out the legislature's clear intent. *Karow v. Milwaukee Cnty. Civil Serv. Comm'n*, 82 Wis.2d 565, 570–71, 263 N.W.2d 214 (1978). A statutory time limit is one type of statutory requirement that may result in a loss of the circuit court's competency, if a party fails to satisfy it. *Id.*, ¶ 13. However, noncompliance with a mandatory statute does not always translate into a loss of competency. *State v. Bollig*, 222 Wis.2d 558, 566, 587 N.W.2d 908 (Ct.App.1998) (citing *State v. Kywanda F.*, 200 Wis.2d 26, 33, 546 N.W.2d 440 (1996)). Sometimes the "legislative purpose of the statutory scheme [can] be fulfilled, without strictly following the statutory directive." *Id.* at 567–68, 587 N.W.2d 908.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Karow* ultimately set forth several factors for use in evaluating whether a statute's use of the term "shall" is mandatory or directory. The factors to be considered are: the inclusion or omission of a "prohibition or a penalty" in the statute, "the consequences resulting from one construction or the other," "the nature of the statute," "the evil to be remedied," and "the general object sought to be accomplished" by the legislature. *Karow* at 572, 263 N.W.2d 214.

1. The first factor to be considered is the inclusion or omission of a

penalty. § 801.14(2) does not provide a penalty within the four corners of the paragraph.

- 2. The second factor pertains to the consequences resulting from one construction or the other. A mandatory construction would allow for only for two types of service regular U.S. mail and fax transmission. This severely limits the statute and lags it behind technology in the 21st century. A directory construction allows for the use of common sense in understanding that the technology of email is much faster and more efficient than either of the delineated methods set forth in the statute.
- 3. The nature of the statute was set forth above. It is simply a "notice" statute. Compliance with this statute is complete once a party has taken appropriate steps to give opposing counsel notification of a filing. Clearly, taking a directory approach to interpretation of this statute provides that notification by faster and more efficient means brings one within the notice requirements of the statute.
- 4. The evil to be remedied is to make certain that some form of notice is provided to opposing counsel so that the attorney can appropriately respond to the filing. The legislature wanted to make it clear that attorneys must provide notice to one another when filing documents so that nobody is left in the dark with respect to keeping up with the substance of any lawsuit. Here, the evil to

be remedied was complied with as the Village attorney acknowledges receipt of the email transmission.

5. The general object of the sought to be accomplished by the legislature is to provide notice to opposing counsel in the most efficient means possible. This is the reason why fax transmission was added in 1991. Simply stated, the addition of email transmission is simply lagging behind with our legislature. There should be no dispute with the parties to this action that email transmission is the most effective means of written communication in this day and age.

Given the analysis set forth above, the term "shall" as used in this statute should be construed by this Appellate Court as directory in order to carry out the legislature's clear intent of notification to opposing counsel. Notification was delivered to counsel here by written e-mail transmission. Accordingly, Fisk has effectively complied with the statute.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments contained in this brief, Fisk moves the Court to reverse and remand this matter back to the trial court for entry of an Order that the circuit court had jurisdiction to hear the appeal taken directly from the municipal court.