RECEIVED

07-16-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT 2

Village of Thiensville, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 15-AP-576-FT

Conor B. Fisk, Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION AND ORDER ENTERED BY THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT THE HONORABLE PAUL V. MALLOY, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S MEMORANDUM BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX

HOUSEMAN & FEIND, LLP

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent JOHNATHAN G. WOODWARD State Bar No. 1056307 P.O. Box 104 Grafton, Wisconsin 53024-0104 Telephone (262) 377-0600 Facsimile (262) 377-6080 jgw@housemanlaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a decision and order of the circuit court finding that Fisk failed to properly serve his notice of appeal from municipal court upon counsel for the Village, thus depriving the circuit court of jurisdiction.

After a traffic stop in the early morning hours of December 27, 2013, a Village of Thiensville police officer issued Fisk two citations, one alleging a violation of Thiensville Village Code § 74-1 adopting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a), operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant ("OWI"), and a second alleging a violation of the same Thiensville code section adopting Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(b), operating a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration ("PAC"). (R. 2, 3.)

Fisk, by his attorney, entered not guilty pleas to the two citations. (R. 1-1.) The matter proceeded to a trial before the Mid-Moraine Municipal Court on November 5, 2014. (R. 9-1, 10-1.) The municipal court found Fisk not guilty of the OWI charge, but guilty of the PAC charge, and imposed a sentence. (*Id.*)

On November 25, 2014—the 20th and final day for Fisk to appeal the municipal court PAC conviction to the circuit court—Fisk's attorney personally delivered a Notice of Appeal to the municipal court clerk's office along with the statutory filing fee. (R. 11-1, 11-3, R-App. 1-2.) At 9:02 p.m. on November 25, Fisk's attorney e-mailed a scanned copy of the Notice of Appeal to the Village's attorney. (R.

1

14-2, R-App. 3.) This was the only notice of appeal Fisk provided to the Village. (R. 14-1.)

The Village moved the circuit court to dismiss Fisk's appeal, on the grounds that this notice was insufficient to "give written notice" of the appeal to the Village, as required by Wis. Stat. § 800.14(1). (R. 13.) After briefing and argument by the parties, the circuit court granted the Village's motion. (R. 38, R. 19.) Fisk appeals from the circuit court's decision and order.

ARGUMENT

I. Because electronic mail is not a recognized means of giving notice to an opposing party, Fisk failed to "give written notice" of his appeal to the Village

The defendant failed to give notice of appeal to the Village within 20 days of the municipal court decision. Therefore, the circuit court properly determined it lacked jurisdiction, and this Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of the appeal.

In order for a circuit court to obtain jurisdiction over an appeal from a municipal court judgment, the appellant "must follow the method prescribed in the governing statute." *City of Mequon v. Bruseth*, 47 Wis. 2d 791, 794, 177 N.W.2d 852 (1970). Wis. Stat. 800.14(1) sets forth the sole manner in which an appellant shall appeal a municipal court judgment: by "giving the municipal judge and other party written notice of appeal within 20 days after the judgment or decision." Thus, Wisconsin appellate courts have repeatedly held that an appellant's failure to strictly comply with this statutory procedure, including failure to deliver the notice of appeal to the municipality within 20 days of the municipal court judgment, deprives the circuit court of jurisdiction over the appeal. *See, e.g., City of Milwaukee v. Hall*, 2012AP875 (unpublished, R-App. 4-8); *Town of Oconomowoc v. Hibbard*, 2009AP2890 (unpublished, R-App. 9-14), *City of West Allis v. Michaels*, 2013AP710 (unpublished, R-App. 15-20.)

Wisconsin's civil procedure rules provide that when service of papers or other pleadings is required to be made upon a party represented by an attorney, such service shall be made upon the attorney, either by "delivering" a copy of the paper to the attorney, or mailing a copy to the attorney's last-known address. Wis. Stat. § 801.14(2). The statute goes on to define "delivery":

> Delivery of a copy within this section means: handing it to the attorney or to the party; transmitting a copy of the paper by facsimile machine to his or her office; or leaving it at his or her office with a clerk or other person in charge thereof; or, if there is no one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving it at his or her dwelling house or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein.

Id. Furthermore, Wis. Stat. § 801.14(4) provides that

[t]he filing of any paper required to be served constitutes a certification by the party or attorney effecting the filing that a copy of such paper <u>has</u> <u>been</u> timely served on all parties required to be served, except as the person effecting the filing my otherwise stipulate in writing.

Id. (emphasis added.)

Here, it is uncontroverted that Fisk did not hand-deliver, fax, or mail his notice of appeal to the Village's attorney within 20 days after the municipal court judgment. Rather, Fisk's attorney waited until after 9:00 p.m. on the 20th day to e-mail a scanned copy of the appeal papers to the Village's attorney. Because Fisk's notice was not "delivered" in a manner authorized by statute, Fisk failed to "give" notice as demanded by Wis. Stat. § 800.14(1). Furthermore, it is evident that Fisk did not comply with the certification requirement of Wis. Stat. § 801.14(4); the appeal papers emailed to the Village's attorney had been file-stamped by the municipal court clerk's office¹, evidencing that Fisk filed first with the municipal court and *then* provided a copy to the Village.

Fisk's primary argument is that the Wisconsin civil procedure code does not apply to appeals from municipal court to circuit court; therefore, Fisk argues he is not constrained to the definition of

¹ The Court may also wish to take judicial notice of the fact that the Mid-Moraine Municipal Court administrative/clerk's office has set office hours of 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Monday through Friday; the Mid-Moraine Municipal Court, unlike many municipal courts, does not hold regularly scheduled evening court proceedings.

"delivery" in Wis. Stat. § 801.14(2). Fisk's argument misses the mark.

Our courts have held that the provisions of Chapter 801 apply to appeals to the circuit court from other lower bodies, so long as a more specific procedure is not in place. For instance, in *Gangler v*. Wisconsin Electric Power Co., the parties disputed whether the date counting provisions of Wis. Stat. § 801.15(1) or Wis. Stat. § 990.001(4) applied to an appeal to the circuit court from a county condemnation commission award. Gangler v. Wisconsin Electric *Power Co.*, 110 Wis. 2d 649, 329 N.W.2d 186 (1983). Because the appeal of the condemnation award initiated the action in the circuit court, and because the statutes governing condemnation proceedings did not evidence a contrary policy, the state Supreme Court held that the date counting rules in Wis. Stat. § 801.14(2) applied. Id. at 655-56. A more recent case underscored the holding of *Gangler* by noting that Chapter 801 did not apply to an appeal from an administrative ruling to the state division of hearings and appeals, distinguishing *Gangler* by noting that *Gangler* applied to appeals to circuit court. Baker v. Dep't. of Health Servs., 2012 WI App 71 ¶ 10, 342 Wis. 2d 174 ¶ 10, 816 N.W.2d 337 ¶ 10.

Because this case is an appeal to the circuit court, and because Wis. Stat. § 800.14 does not evidence a contrary or stand-alone policy or definition of how written notice is to be given, this Court should hold, consistent with *Gangler*, that the definition of "delivery" in

 $\mathbf{5}$

Wis. Stat. § 801.14(2) applies to the service of a notice of appeal from municipal court to circuit court.

Fisk further argues that noncompliance with a time limit does not necessarily mean that the circuit court loses competency to proceed, and invites this court to find that the word "shall" in Wis. Stat. § 800.14(1) is directory as opposed to mandatory. This argument fails because the question here is not one of competency, but of subject matter jurisdiction. While circuit courts have original jurisdiction over all civil and criminal matters, circuit courts have appellate jurisdiction only "as the legislature may prescribe by law." WIS. CONST. art. VII, § 8. Therefore, while noncompliance with a mandatory statute does not always translate into a loss of competency, a circuit court obtains appellate jurisdiction "only...under the rules of appealability established by the legislature." See Walford v. Bartsch, 65 Wis. 2d 254, 258, 222 N.W.2d 633 (1974), citing Bruseth, supra. "In order for there to be a right of appeal, some statute must grant it and a party seeking to appeal must follow the method prescribed in the governing statute." Bruseth, supra, at 794. Therefore, the proper inquiry here is whether Fisk has strictly complied with the method prescribed for an appeal from municipal court to circuit court. This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision that Fisk did not do so.

Finally, Fisk argues that because the legislature has allowed for service of certain papers by fax, the legislative intent has been

6

fulfilled here because e-mail is better than fax. (A. Br. at 9.) However, the Village is not aware of any provision in the Wisconsin Statutes that allows for personal delivery of court filings and pleadings by e-mail, other than for those who voluntarily opt-in to the circuit court e-filing system in a particular action. Wis. Stat. § 801.17(6). Even in the circuit court e-filing system, documents are not directly e-mailed from party A to party B; rather, party A uploads a document to the e-filing system, which then automatically generates an e-mail notice to all registered electronic participants notifying them of the new filing. Wis. Stat. § 801.17(6)(b). Notably, even in the e-filing system, documents uploaded after the close of business are deemed filed as of the next business day, and when a party has "the right or duty to do some act within a prescribed period after the service of a document on the party," the party gets an extra day to comply if a document is served using e-filing between 5:00 p.m. and 12:00 midnight. Wis. Stat. § 801.17(4)(d)-(e). The same is true for documents sent by fax. Wis. Stats. §§ 801.16(2)(f), 801.15(5)(b). Therefore, there is a clear legislative intent that papers delivered after the close of business are, for all intents and purposes, deemed to have been delivered as of the next business day.

Because Fisk failed to serve notice of his appeal on the Village in a manner authorized by statute, the defendant has failed to comply with the statutory prerequisites of an appeal from municipal court to

7

circuit court. Because strict compliance with Wis. Stat. § 800.14(1) is necessary to confer jurisdiction upon the circuit court, the circuit court properly determined that it lacked jurisdiction over the appeal, and this Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of the appeal.

The Village Has Been Demonstrably Harmed; Fisk's Methods Prevented The Village from Cross-Appealing

Fisk's error is not harmless because the municipal court found the defendant guilty on the PAC citation, but not guilty on the OWI citation. In order for the circuit court jury to decide both citations *de novo*, the Village would have had to cross-appeal the not guilty finding on the OWI citation within the same 20 days after the municipal court judgment. Fisk's method of notifying the Village of his appeal made it <u>impossible</u> for the Village to bring the OWI citation to the circuit court jury along with the PAC citation.

This Court has held that when a municipal court finds a defendant guilty on one half of an OWI/PAC case but not guilty on the other half, the defendant's appeal from the guilty finding does not automatically bring the entire matter into circuit court; rather, the municipality must file its own separate appeal from the not guilty finding. *Town of Menasha v. Bastian*, 178 Wis. 2d 191, 503 N.W.2d 382 (Ct. App. 1993). The *Bastian* court dismissed the municipality's argument that such a finding would encourage what it characterized as "sharp practices amongst defense attorneys." *Id.* at 197. The *Bastian* court suggested² that a municipality should take a "protective appeal" and "can always move to dismiss its appeal" if the defendant does not appeal in-kind. *Id.*

The Village does not dispute the central holding of *Bastian*, which is that the municipality must appeal in order for the municipality to bring the dismissed portion of an OWI/PAC case into circuit court. Rather, the Village contends that the dicta in *Bastian* concerning a municipality's potential remedies for such "sharp practices" was misplaced.

The *Bastian* court's discussion missed the mark on this issue for two important reasons. One, it interpreted the statute in such a way to reach an absurd result: that a municipality should pay a nonrefundable \$144.50 filing fee simply as an insurance policy to protect the future availability of appellate remedies. Two, it touched on but does not directly address the fact that such an appeal is moot unless and until the defendant appeals from the conviction of the companion drunk-driving citation. "An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy." *State ex rel. Olson v. Litscher*, 2000 WI App 61 ¶ 3,

² The *Bastian* court discussed the notion of a "protective appeal" solely for the purpose of dismissing the Town's concerns; the discussion was not essential to *Bastian*'s holding. Thus, the Village contends this discussion was dicta. *See, e.g., State v. Sartin,* 200 Wis. 2d 47, 60 n.7, 546 N.W.2d 449 (1996) (language expressed in a court's opinion that extends beyond the facts in the case, is broader than necessary, and not essential to the determination of the facts at issue is dicta); *State v. Harvey,* 2006 WI App 26 ¶ 19, 289 Wis. 2d 222, 710 N.W.2d 482 (citing *Sartin* with approval.)

233 Wis. 2d 685, 608 N.W.2d 425. Because OWI and PAC citations are joined for purposes of sentencing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(c), a municipality can obtain no further penalty or relief when a defendant has already been convicted and sentenced on one half of an OWI/PAC case. In other words, a municipality's appeal of a not guilty finding on half of an OWI/PAC case is properly considered moot *unless* a defendant revives the proceedings by filing his or her own appeal. Therefore, this Court should not find that the Village is in error for failing to take a "protective appeal."

This is not a case where the defendant's failure to provide proper notice of appeal to the Village elevates form over substance. Fisk's decision to wait until after 9:00 p.m. on the last day of the appellate period to notify the Village of his appeal made it <u>impossible</u> for the Village to cross-appeal the municipal court's dismissal of the OWI citation. The legislature has expressed a policy of encouraging "vigorous prosecution" of drunk driving offenses; such policy is hampered when untimely notice prevents a municipality from presenting a full OWI/PAC prosecution in the circuit court. Fisk's method of notifying the Village of his appeal was prejudicial to the Village.

CONCLUSION

Fisk's notice of appeal, sent via e-mail to the Village well after business hours on the final day to appeal, violated both the letter and the spirit of the statutes governing appeals from municipal court to circuit court. Because a failure to give proper notice in an appeal from municipal court deprives the circuit court of jurisdiction over the appeal, this Court should affirm the circuit court's decision and order dismissing Fisk's appeal.